
“Our mission is to maintain the character of our “small town” community while striking an appropriate balance between 
economic development and preservation of our quality of life. We help create a dynamic and vital City by providing quality, 

cost-effective municipal services and by forming partnerships with residents and organizations in the constant pursuit of 
excellence.” 

Page Item STANDING AGENDA ITEMS 

1. Call to Order and Flag Salute

2. Roll call

3. Special Presentations & Announcements:  State Trends on Cannabis – Juliana Lucchesi, City Planner

4. Public Comment:
Welcome to our City Council meeting. The Council invites the public to address the Council on matters on the 

Consent Agenda and matters not listed on the agenda that are within the Council’s subject matter jurisdiction. 
If the Public wishes to comment on matters that are on the agenda, the Council will request comment when 
the matter is heard. The Council reserves the right to limit public comment on matters that are outside its 
subject matter jurisdiction. 

The City Council may regulate the total amount of time on particular issues and for speakers (typically 3 minutes). 
The Council may place additional time limits on comments, to ensure members of the public have an 
opportunity to speak and the Council is able to complete its business. A group may be asked to choose a 
spokesperson to address the Council on a subject matter, or the Council may limit the number of persons 
addressing the Council whenever a group of persons wishes to address the council on the same subject matter. 
Speakers may not cede their time to another. 

The Mayor manages the City Council meeting with a commitment to effective engagement while maintaining 
a positive, respectful decorum. The Mayor will typically start the Public Comment period sharing the following 
reminders relating decorum and Brown Act compliance efforts: 

 This is the time for the public to address the Council on matters on the Consent Agenda or matters NOT on
the Council Agenda.  This will be a comment period only.  If the public wishes a response they may provide
their contact information to the Deputy City Clerk.

 The Mayor will recognize each speaker in an orderly fashion. Most often, the Mayor will call the speakers
whom have signed in first and shall then call for those who would like to address the Council but whom did
not sign in by inviting them to come to the front of the room and wait to be recognized to speak. Once the
speaker is recognized, the speaker will address the Council only and shall provide comment from the public
microphone. Public Comment will typically not be taken from any person shouting from the audience.

 No heckling or shouting from the audience at a speaker shall be permitted.

 The City Council may ask “clarifying” questions only. Due to equity and Brown Act concerns, the Council will
avoid engaging in dialogue or debate.

 If there is an item of great community significance/interest and is within the Council’s subject matter
jurisdiction, the Council may request the item be agendized for further consideration at a subsequent Council
meeting. 

Mt. Shasta City Council Regular City Council Meeting Agenda 
Mt. Shasta Community Center, 629 Alder Street  

Monday, October 10, 2016; 5:30 p.m. 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 1



Mt. Shasta Regular City Council Meeting Agenda 
Monday, October 10, 2016 
Page 2 of 4 

5. Meeting Recess (As Necessary)

6. Council and Staff Comments

CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS 
Page 7. Consent Agenda - The City Manager recommends approval of the following Consent Agenda

items. All Resolutions and Ordinances on this agenda, or added hereto, shall be introduced or
adopted, as applicable, by title only, and the full reading thereof is hereby waived.

a. Approval of Minutes: September 29, 2016 Special City Council Meeting

b. Acceptance of Brown Act Committee Minutes:  Planning Commission August 2016

c. Approval of Disbursements: Accounts Payable 9/29/16 ; Total Gross Payroll and Taxes:
For Period Ending  9/25/16.  (Finance Director)

Page 8. Public Hearing:  Cannabis Dispensary Permit Denial Appeal

Background:  The Applicants, Ali Taghaui and Jennifer Merritt, filed for the final available Medical  
Marijuana Dispensary permit at the proposed location of 320 N Mt. Shasta Blvd. The Administrative 
Review Committee denied the proposed location, which failed two of the three required findings. 
Report By:  Juliana Lucchesi, City Planner 
Recommended Council Action:  City Staff respectfully requests upholding the decision to deny the  
Medical Marijuana Dispensary Permit Application at 320 N Mt. Shasta Blvd. 

Page 9. Public Hearing:  First Reading of Ordinance Amending Mt. Shasta Municipal Code Section 18.96
allowing Medical Marijuana Dispensaries in the City Limits of Mt. Shasta

Background:  The City of Mt. Shasta created a Medical Marijuana Dispensary Ordinance in 2005 to  
meet the demand for medical marijuana products under the Compassionate Care Act. Changes to  
state regulation of cannabis and City permitting processes have caused the Planning Department and 
Planning Commission to assess the ordinance for compliance and relevancy. 
Report By:  Juliana Lucchesi, City Planner 
Recommended Council Action:  Planning Commission and Planning Department respectfully request  
the City Council approved the 1st reading of the recommended amendments to Mt. Shasta Municipal  
Code Chapter 18.96. 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 2

5-16

17-39

40-57



Mt. Shasta Regular City Council Meeting Agenda 
Monday, October 10, 2016 
Page 3 of 4 

Page 10. Public Hearing:  For the Re-Zoning of 403 Orem Street, Mt. Shasta, CA 96067, APN 057-382-020

 Background:  The City of Mt. Shasta allows for individuals and organizations to rezone parcels  
 throughout the city to meet the land owner’s needs and City initiatives. The rezoning application from 
 R-1 to an R-1-U could allow for the creation of a future infill project.
 Report By:  Juliana Lucchesi, City Planner 
  Recommended Council Action: Planning Commission and Planning Department Staff respectfully  
  request that the City Council approve the rezoning application for 403 Orem Street form an R-1 “Low  
  Density Residential” to an R-1-U “Low Density Residential Urban” 

11. Community Building Use Agreement

Background:  In July of this year the City of Mt. Shasta entered into negotiations with Siskiyou Lodge 
#297 regarding the cost, terms, and conditions of a use agreement between the two parties   
providing for the rental of the Community Building used for Council and Planning Commission  
Meetings. 
 Report By:  Parish Cross, Chief of Police 

      Recommended Council Action:  Staff recommends Council approve CCR-16-46 regarding Use  
      Agreement between the City of Mt. Shasta and Masons Siskiyou Lodge #297 for the rental of the  
      Community Center for Council Meetings. 

12. Temporary Adjustment to Authorized Positions at Police Department

Background:  One of the officers of the police department has announced that he will be retiring in 
January of 2017.  As a result of this announcement, the police department tested for new full-time 
officers during the past several weeks and have successfully chosen a replacement for the retiring 
officer.  
 Report By:  Parish Cross, Chief of Police;  Muriel Howarth-Terrell, Finance Director 

      Recommended Council Action:  Staff is kindly requesting that Council approve the recommendation 
      to temporarily adjust the authorized positions within the police department. 

CITY COUNCIL/STAFF REPORTING PERIOD 

13. Council Reports on Attendance at Appointed/Outside Meetings

14. Future Agenda Items (Appearing on the agenda within 60-90 days):

a. Illegal Campfire Ordinance – 10/24/16
b. Landing Costs for Future Discussion with the County – 10/24/16
c. Review of CCO-98-05, Extraction and Exportation of Groundwater – 11/14/16
d. Presentation – Overview of the last four years – 11/14/16
e. Discussion Regarding Senate Bill 628 – 12/12/16
f. Possible Downtown Traffic Flow Changes/Request for Qualifications (RFQ) – TBD
g. Orchard Property Annexation – TBD
h. Smoking Limitations – TBD
i. Purchase of Mini-Rescue and New Fire Chief’s Vehicle – TBD
j. Crystal Geyser Industrial User Permit – TBD, Pending County CEQA

15. Closed Session:  Pursuant to Government Code 54957.6 – Acting City Manager

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 3

58-67

Page
68-72

Page
73-74



 16.   Adjourn 
Availability of Public Records: All public records related to an open session item on this agenda, which are not exempt 

from disclosure pursuant to the California Public Records Act, that are distributed to a majority of the legislative body will be 
available for public inspection at City Hall located at 305 North Mt. Shasta Blvd., Mt. Shasta, CA at the same time the public 
records are distributed or made available to the members of the legislative body. Agenda related writings or documents 
provided to a majority of the legislative body after distribution of the Agenda packet will be available for public review 
within a separate binder at City Hall at the same time as they are made available to the members of the legislative body. 
 

The  City of Mt. Shasta  does  not  discriminate on the  basis of race, color, national origin,  sex, religion,  age or disability 
in  employment or provision of  services.   In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, persons requiring 
accommodations for a disability at a public meeting should notify the City Clerk or Deputy City Clerk at least 48 hours prior to 
the meeting at 
(530) 926-7510 in order to allow the City sufficient time to make reasonable arrangements to accommodate participation in 
this meeting. 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 4



Mt. Shasta City Council Special City Council Meeting DRAFT Minutes 

Mt. Shasta Community Center, 629 Alder Street 
Thursday, September 29, 2016; 5:30 p.m. 

“Our mission is to maintain the character of our “small town” community while striking an appropriate balance 
between economic development and preservation of our quality of life.  We help create a dynamic and vital City 

by providing quality, cost-effective municipal services and by forming partnerships with residents and 
organizations in the constant pursuit of excellence.” 

STANDING AGENDA ITEMS 

1. Call to Order and Flag Salute:   At the hour of 5:30 p.m. Mayor Jeffrey Collings called the meeting to order
and led the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance.

2. Roll Call:  Council Members Present:    Morter, Burns, Stearns, Mayor Collings
Council Members Absent:  Harkness

3. Special Presentations & Announcements:  None

4. Public Comment:  None

5. Meeting Recess:  None

6. Council and Staff Comments:
Kathy Morter, Councilmember – Comments regarding City Manager goals and objectives, meeting with staff and 
community. 
Tim Stearns, Councilmember – Reminder about League of Local Agencies meeting. 
Mike Burns Sr., Councilmember – Reviewed date of next Local Transportation Commission.  Councilmember 
Stearns to attend. 

CITY COUNCIL BUSINESS 

7. Consent Agenda:
COUNCIL ACTION:  Approved the following Consent Agenda items.  All Resolutions and Ordinances on this 
agenda, or added hereto, shall be introduced or adopted, as applicable, by title only, and the full reading thereof 
is hereby waived. 

a. Approval of Minutes: September 12, 2016 Regular City Council Meeting

b. Acceptance of Brown Act Committee Minutes:  Beautification Committee August 10, 2016; Active
Transportation Committee September 2, 2016; Downtown Enhancement Advisory Committee July 13, 
2016. 

c. Approval of Disbursements: Accounts Payable, 9/12/2016 and 9/14/2016; Total Gross Payroll
and Taxes: For Period Ending 9/11/2016.  (Finance Director)

d. Monthly Financial/Investment Report August 2016 (Finance Director)

e. Rescinding Resolution No. CCR-16-05 and authorizing the City Manager as the Authorized
Representative for State Water Resources Control Board planning grant applications,
Resolution No. CCR-16-40 (Rod Bryan, Public Works Director)

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 5



City of Mt. Shasta Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, September 29, 2016 
Page 2 of 3 

f. Adopt Resolution CCR-16-41 Authorizing the City Manager to Sign and File a Financial
Assistance Application for a Financing Agreement for the Planning and/or Design of Tank 1 and
Roseburg Water System Improvement Project (Muriel Howarth-Terrell, Finance Director)

g. Adopt Resolution CCR-16-42 Appointing Bruce Pope to the Position of City Manager and
Approving Employment Agreement

h. Approve the request to seek RFP’s for new A/V and sound equipment

i. Approve the transfer of $75,000 from the General Fund into the Equipment Replacement
Fund, Resolution CCR-16-45

MOTION TO APPROVE: Councilmember Stearns 
SECOND:    Councilmember Burns 
AYES:   Councilmembers Morter, Burns, Stearns, Mayor Collings 
NOES:     None 
ABSENT:     Councilmember Harkness 
ABSTAIN:    None 

8. Council Approval of Resolution authorizing PACE to begin work on Clean Water State Revolving Fund
Planning Grant activities

Rod Bryan, Public Works Director – Review of the item. 
Clarifying questions from Council.   
COUNCIL ACTION:   Approve Resolution CCR-16-44 
MOTION TO APPROVE: Councilmember Morter 
SECOND:    Councilmember Stearns 
AYES:   Councilmembers Morter, Burns, Stearns, Mayor Collings 
NOES:     None 
ABSENT:     Councilmember Harkness 
ABSTAIN:    None 

9. Approve Art Agreement for Parker Plaza
Juliana Lucchesi, City Planner – Review of item. 

COUNCIL ACTION:   Approve Resolution CCR-16-43 
MOTION TO APPROVE: Councilmember Morter 
SECOND:    Councilmember Burns 
AYES:   Councilmembers Morter, Burns, Stearns, Mayor Collings 
NOES:     None 
ABSENT:     Councilmember Harkness 
ABSTAIN:    None 
10. State Trends on Cannabis
Tim Stearns, Councilmember – Requested tabling the item to a later date.  Council agreed. 
COUNCIL ACTION:  Table the item to October 10 or later. 

 CITY COUNCIL/STAFF REPORTING PERIOD 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 6



City of Mt. Shasta Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 
Thursday, September 29, 2016 
Page 3 of 3 

11. Council Reports on Attendance at Appointed/Outside Meetings:
Tim Stearns, Councilmember – Review of manufacturing business careers pathway presentation.  Downtown 
Enhancement Advisory Committee meeting review. 
12. Future Agenda Items (Appearing on the agenda within 60-90 days):

COUNCIL ACTION:  Reviewed Items a through l.  
a. Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance – 10/10/16
b. Community Building Use Agreement – 10/10/16
c. Cannabis Dispensary Permit Denial Appeal, Public Hearing – 10/10/16
d. Illegal Campfire Ordinance – 10/24/16
e. Possible Downtown Traffic Flow Changes/Request for Qualifications (RFQ) – 10/24/16
f. Landing Costs for Future Discussion with the County – 10/24/16
g. Review of CCO-98-05, Extraction and Exportation of Groundwater – 11/14/16
h. Discussion Regarding Senate Bill 628 – 12/12/16

i. Orchard Property Annexation – TBD
j. Smoking Limitations – TBD
k. Purchase of Mini-Rescue and New Chief’s Vehicle – TBD
l. Crystal Geyser Industrial User Permit – TBD, Pending County CEQA

13. Adjourn:  There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 6:05 p.m.

Respectfully Submitted by: Kathryn M. Wilson, Administrative Assistant/Deputy City Clerk 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 7



Mt. Shasta City Council Regular Planning Commission Meeting Approved Minutes 

Mt. Shasta Community Center, 629 Alder Street 
Tuesday, August 16, 2016; 6:00 p.m. 

“Our mission is to maintain the character of our “small town” community while striking an appropriate balance 
between economic development and preservation of our quality of life.  We help create a dynamic and vital City 

by providing quality, cost-effective municipal services and by forming partnerships with residents and 
organizations in the constant pursuit of excellence.” 

STANDING AGENDA ITEMS 

1. Call to Order and Flag Salute:   At the hour of 6:00 p.m. Chair Higuera called the meeting to order and led
the audience in the Pledge of Allegiance.

2. Roll Call:
Commissioners Present: Commissioner Beck, Findling, Clure, Wagner, and Chair Higuera
Commissioners Excused: Commissioner Acord
Commissioners Absent:  Commissioner Pardee

3. Approval of Minutes:  Tuesday, July 19, 2016 Planning Commission General Meeting Minutes
Moved to Approve – 1st Commissioner Wagner, 2nd – Commissioner Clure
AYE: Commissioners Beck, Clure, Wagner, and Chair Higuera
NO:
ABSTAIN: Commissioner Findling

4. Special Presentation:
a. Alternative Energy in Mt. Shasta

City Staff: Presentation on current alternative energy trends in the State of California and the 
current goals of the City of Mt. Shasta 

5. Public Comment:
Robert Kehr: Concern over the Animal Hospital fencing, dumpster orientation, and driveway conditions. 

6. Consent Agenda:  N/A

7. Amendment of Municipal Code Chapter 18.96 “Medical Marijuana Dispensaries”
City Staff: Presentation of amendments to the Chapter 18.96 and the staff recommendations in Planning
Agenda Packet Tuesday, August 16, 2016
Commissioner Wagner: Discussion on buffer distances and business ability to apply for a dispensary permit
Commissioner Findling: Discussion on the meaning “Public facility” and amending wording to Public zoning
Commissioner Beck: Discussion on on-site cultivation in relation to the ability for dispensaries to do
business. Also, discussion on removing the patient records requirement since the County does not offer a
registration program.
City Staff: Discussion on City’s ability to enter dispensaries and audit financial records and sales
Commissioner Findling: Discussion on types of information that can be requested.
Commissioner Wagner: Discussion on ‘grandfathering’ process and existing permit locations.
Chair Higuera: Discussion on buffer distances favoring 250 foot buffer.
Commissioner Clure: Discussion on buffers at one uniform buffer.
Planning Commission: General consensus to create a buffer requirement of 250 buffer from all schools and
parcels zoned “Public” under the City of Mt. Shasta Municipal Code.

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 8



City of Mt. Shasta Regular City Council Meeting Minutes 
Tuesday, August 16, 2016 
Page 2 of 2 
 

Public Hearing: 
Gina Munday: In favor for 500 foot buffer, but agrees that a buffer too large would not be good for business 
locations. Supports opening up more parcels for dispensary locations. 
 
Action Taken: Consensus approval the first reading of the amendments to ordinance 18.96 

 
  8.  Open Discussion: Alternative Energy Options for Mt. Shasta  

City Staff: Discussion of Alternative Energy options 
Commissioner Wagner: Discussion of current city and state incentives to finance alternative energy 
Commissioner Findling: Discussion on how energy and affordable housing intersect. The City should be a 
source of promoting the energy initiatives.  
Chair Higuera: Discussion on recycling program under the Energy section of the General Plan.  
 
 
Action Taken: Recommend in the short-term to support marketing current programs, and in the long-term 
create an Energy Element for The City of Mt. Shasta General Plan.  
 
AYE: Commissioner Clure, Commissioner Findling, Commissioner Wagner, and Chair Higuera 
NO 
ABSENT: Commissioner Acord and Commissioner Beck 
 
City Staff will update on Recycling Programs at next meeting. 
 

9.  Commission and Staff Comments: 
City Staff: Update on Noise Element Work Program 
Commissioner Wagner: Discussion on trash in the creek near Rite Aid 
Commissioner Findling: Discussion on Used Car Sales 

10. Future Agenda Items – Future items are topics brought to the Planning Commission 
from a public petition, city staff, Planning Commission member(s), and City Council for review and action. 
All dates refer to first introductions to the Planning Commission and can be altered due to time and priority 
level. 

a. Rezoning Application – 9/20/2016 
b. Noise Ordinance – 10/18/2016  Continue at a later date after Noise Element Update 
c. Smoking Limitations – 11/22/2016 10/18/2016 
d. Sign Ordinance – 11/22/2016 10/18/2016 
e. Lighting Ordinance – 12/20/2016 
f. Broadband Plan – 12/20/2016 

11.  Adjourn:  There being no further business, the meeting was adjourned at 7:18 p.m. 

Respectfully Submitted by:  Juliana Lucchesi, City Planner 

 

 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 9



 City Council Agenda Item # 7c 
Staff Report 

Meeting Date:  October 10, 2016 

To: Mayor and City Council 

From: Muriel Howarth Terrell, Finance Director 

Subject: Approval of Warrants and Payroll 

Recommendation: 

Staff requests the Mayor and City Council Approve warrants paid including payroll benefits and 
withholding, and payroll distribution, in the amount of $485,313.98. 

Background & Summary: 

Approval of Check Numbers 38701-38750 $   418,988.36 

Total Payroll Distribution $     48,191.26 

Total Payroll Taxes  $     18,134.36 

$   341,176.77 

Financial Impact: 

Espenditures are consistent with the Budget that the City Council has adopted. 

Compliance with 2014-17 City Council Strategic Plan: 

The City Council’s leadership efforts to ensure adherence to the best possible financial 
practices and overall transparency falls under Strategic Focus IV – Grow Mt. Shasta Pride and 
Quality and the Municipal Responsibilities of Progressive Leadership and Financial Health and 
Economic Opportunity. 

Attachments: 

1.) Check Registers – 9/29/16 

2.) ACH Payroll Distribution – 9/29/16 

3.) EFTPS Reports – 10/4/16 

Regular 
x Consent 

Closed 
Presentation 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 10



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 11



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 12



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 13



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 14



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 15



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 16



1 | P a g e

Planning Department Staff Report 
October 10, 2016 

Project Number:  2016.29 

Project Title: Medical Dispensary Permit Application 

Applicant: Ali Taghaui and Jennifer Merritt 

Type of Project: Dispensary Permit 

Prepared by: Juliana Lucchesi, City Planner 

The City Staff of the City of Mt. Shasta recommend upholding the decision to deny 
the Medical Marijuana Dispensary Permit Application for the location of 320 N Mt. 
Shasta Blvd.  

Background: 

The City of Mt. Shasta Municipal Code (MSMC) Chapter 18.96 “Medical Marijuana 

Dispensary” outlines the City’s process and findings regarding the allocation and 

regulation of dispensaries (Attachment 1). The ordinance was created in response to the 

changes in California medical marijuana legislation. The ordinance allows for three 

dispensary permits that can be attained through an application and administrative review 

process. 

The permit application requires that all Applicants submit materials related to the 

proposed location, security plans, and Applicant background. Proposed locations are 

confined to C-1 “Downtown Commercial” and C-2 “General Commercial zone between 

Hinckley Avenue and Mountain View Drive. In addition to the zoning requirements, no 

dispensary location may be within 1000 feet of the following educational facilities: 

• Mt. Shasta Elementary School

• Sisson Middle School

• Mt. Shasta High School

• Jefferson High School

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 17



2 | P a g e

Once an Applicant can proved that the proposed location meets the above criteria, they 

must post a “conspicuously” post notices on the location at least four weeks prior to the 

Administrative Review Committee receiving the application. The notice must indicate that 

the Applicant is filing for a Medical Marijuana permit and that copies of the application is 

available for review at City Hall (MSMC 18.96.050).  

The Administrative Review Committee is a three member committee of City Staff. The 

City Planner, Policy Chief, and City Manager review the applications for the following 

findings: 

(A) The medical marijuana dispensary, as proposed and at the location specified 

in the application, will not create an adverse impact on surrounding uses; and 

(B) The medical marijuana dispensary, as proposed and at the location specified 

in the application, will be compatible with adjacent uses; and 

(C) The medical marijuana dispensary, as proposed and at the location specified 

in the application, will not result in the aggravation of crime problems in the area, 

nor will it make law enforcement unduly difficult. (MSMC 18.96.060) 

The permit is granted if the application meets all three findings. A decision is mailed to 

the Applicant. Appeals can be made to the City Council if the Applicant or other party 

wishes to dispute the decision. 

Project Application: 

The project Applicants have applied for the final available permit to conduct business at 

320 N Mt. Shasta Boulevard. The Applicant will provide medical cannabis and related 

products (Attachment 2). The building contains ample office, bathroom, and storage 

space. The application indicate no major changes will occur to the physical space; other 

than security installation. 

The proposed location met the initial requires of C-1 zoning and not within 1000 feet of 

the indicated schools (Attachment 3). The proposed location abuts a jewelry store and 

restaurant space. The property owner of the proposed location endorsed the application. 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 18



3 | P a g e  
 

Administrative Committee Discussion: 

The Administrative Review Committee met September 8, 2016 to review the dispensary 

permit application. It was determined that the proposed location met the initial criteria of 

commercial zoning and outside of the 1000 foot buffer from the indicated schools. Upon 

further review of the required findings, the committee determined that finding “A” and “B” 

could not be made in favor of the Applicant based on the information presented. 

The committee felt the first finding could not be made due to the current polarization of 

opinions on cannabis usage. Although cannabis has become more common for 

healthcare purposes, attitudes about cannabis usage are still polarized. The committee 

felt the introduction of a medical marijuana dispensary in the historic, downtown area 

would deter residents and visitors opposed to cannabis. The City has received a petition 

from downtown business owners in the past echoing the anti-cannabis sentiment 

(Attachment 4).  

The Applicant did not place signs according to 18.96.050 (10) four weeks prior to the 

Administrative Committee’s deliberation. The committee felt if the sign had been posted 

there could have been more public input related to the proposed location; either in favor 

or against the application. Due to the absence of other public input, the petition was used 

as the primary source of public attitudes toward cannabis in the downtown area. 

The committee felt the second finding, finding “B”, could not be made because of the 

existing purpose of the downtown area. The purpose of the downtown area is for resident 

and visitor recreation. The committee felt a dispensary did not fit the retail and food 

services aspect of the downtown area. Both existing dispensaries are located further 

down the boulevard surrounded by similar healthcare, office, and professional services.  

The singular finding that the committee could make was that the proposed location would 

not increase criminal activity or create a difficult enforcement environment for police. The 

committee determined, based on current dispensary activity, that the inclusion of a 

medical marijuana dispensary at the proposed location would not create more crime. The 

City has not received any complaints related to illegal activity at either existing dispensary.  

  

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 19



4 | P a g e  
 

Environmental Review: 

The Medical Marijuana Dispensary Permit is not considered a “project” under the 

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). No further action is required.  

Staff Recommendations: 

The City Staff recommend upholding the decision to deny the Medical Marijuana 
Dispensary Permit Application for the location of 320 N Mt. Shasta Blvd.  

Attachments: 

1. Mt. Shasta Municipal Code Chapter 18.96 Medical Marijuana Dispensaries 
2. 2016.29 Application Material 
3. 2016.29 Dispensary Location Map 
4. Business Petition  

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 20



Chapter 18.96
MEDICAL MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES

Sections:
18.96.010    Purpose.
18.96.020    Definitions.
18.96.030    Location.
18.96.040    Number of dispensaries.
18.96.050    Medical marijuana dispensary administrative permit process.
18.96.060    Findings for issuance of a medical marijuana dispensary permit.
18.96.070    Conditions of operation.
18.96.080    Fees.
18.96.090    Violations.
18.96.100    Suspension and revocation – Appeal.
18.96.110    Existing dispensaries.
18.96.120    Severability.

18.96.010 Purpose.
The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public safety, health and welfare of the residents of Mt.
Shasta by regulating the operation of medical marijuana dispensaries within City limits, to restrict the
location of medical marijuana dispensaries to specific portions of commercial zones (C1 and C2),
and to require dispensary operators to obtain an administrative permit prior to commencing
operation. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.020 Definitions.
(A) Medical Marijuana Dispensary. A “medical marijuana dispensary” is a facility where marijuana is
made available for medical purposes in accordance with Cal. Health and Safety Code § 11362.5 et
seq. (Compassionate Use Act).

(B) Administrative Review Committee. The “Administrative Review Committee” is the committee that
reviews dispensary permit applications submitted under this chapter, and consists of the Planning
Director, Police Chief, and City Manager. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.030 Location.
(A) Medical marijuana dispensaries shall be permitted only in those portions of the C1 and C2
district located between Mountain View Drive and Hinckley Avenue.

(B) No medical marijuana dispensary shall be located within 1,000 feet of Mt. Shasta Elementary
School, Sission Middle School, Mt. Shasta High School, or Jefferson High School.

(1) Distance shall be measured from the property line of the parcel containing the dispensary to
the property line of the school, using the most direct vehicle or pedestrian route, whichever is
shorter. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.040 Number of dispensaries.
No more than three medical marijuana dispensaries shall be permitted to operate within the City of
Mt. Shasta at any one time. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.050 Medical marijuana dispensary administrative permit process.
(A) Prior to initiating operations, any person or entity wishing to operate a medical marijuana
dispensary shall apply for and receive from the Planning Department a medical marijuana dispensary
permit.

(B) The applicant for a medical marijuana dispensary permit shall submit to the Planning Department
a permit application containing the information specified in subsection (C) of this section. Upon
receipt of the application, the Planning Director shall review the application for completeness.

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 21

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=hsc&group=11001-12000&file=11357-11362.9


Applications that are deemed incomplete by the Planning Department shall be returned to the
applicant within 15 days of receipt.

(C) An applicant for a dispensary permit shall provide the following information:

(1) The full name, current residence address, and phone number of the applicant;

(2) The address to which notice of action on the application is to be mailed;

(3) Written proof that the applicant is over 18 years of age;

(4) A map or diagram, to scale, demonstrating that the location is not within 1,000 feet of the
named locations in MSMC 18.96.030;

(5) Authorization for the City, its agents and employees to seek verification of the information
contained within the application;

(6) A statement in writing by the applicant that he or she certifies under penalty of perjury that all
the information within the application is true, and that the applicant has read the California
Attorney General’s Guidelines and will comply with those guidelines;

(7) Any information or evidence substantiating the required findings of fact for approval of the
administrative permit;

(8) Criminal Background. A background investigation verifying whether the person or persons
having the management or supervision of the applicant’s business has been convicted of a
crime(s), the nature of such offense(s), and the sentence(s) received therefor;

(9) Security Plans. A dispensary shall submit a plan demonstrating adequate security on the
premises, as approved by the Chief of Police and reviewed by the Administrative Review
Committee, including lighting and alarms, to ensure the safety of persons and to protect the
premises from theft. Security plans submitted must include plans for a professionally monitored
robbery and burglary alarm system and a plan for adequate maintenance of the installed system
so as to ensure it is maintained and in working condition;

(10) Each applicant shall conspicuously post notice or notices on the premises stating that there
has been an application for a medical marijuana dispensary submitted to the City of Mt. Shasta
at that particular site for at least four weeks prior to the Administrative Review Committee
receiving the application, and that application files are available for review at City of Mt. Shasta,
305 North Mt. Shasta Boulevard, Mt. Shasta, California.

(D) Once an application is deemed complete, the Planning Director shall distribute the application
materials to the Administrative Review Committee for review and decision. The Administrative Review
Committee shall have 30 days to approve or deny the permit application. Application determinations
shall be based on the findings of fact required by this chapter. Dispensary operators must also
comply with the additional conditions of operations that are required by this chapter and will be
contained in the permit.

(E) Once the Administrative Review Committee has made its decision on the application, the Planning
Director shall mail a written notice of decision to the applicant by certified U.S. mail, postage prepaid,
return receipt requested. An applicant aggrieved by the Administrative Review Committee’s decision
may appeal the decision to the City Council by filing a written notice with the City Clerk within 10
business days of receipt of the Planning Director’s notice of decision. If an appeal is not taken within
that time period, the decision shall be final.

(F) If a request for an appeal to the City Council is received within the applicable time period, the
appeal shall be scheduled by the City Clerk for a public hearing within 45 days of receipt of the
request. Public notice of the hearing shall be given pursuant to Cal. Gov’t Code § 65091. (Ord. CCO
1004, 2010)

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 22

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=gov&group=65001-66000&file=65090-65096


18.96.060 Findings for issuance of a medical marijuana dispensary permit.
A permit to operate a medical marijuana dispensary shall be granted only if the Administrative Review
Committee makes all the following findings of fact:

(A) The medical marijuana dispensary, as proposed and at the location specified in the application,
will not create an adverse impact on surrounding uses; and

(B) The medical marijuana dispensary, as proposed and at the location specified in the application,
will be compatible with adjacent uses; and

(C) The medical marijuana dispensary, as proposed and at the location specified in the application,
will not result in the aggravation of crime problems in the area, nor will it make law enforcement
unduly difficult. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.070 Conditions of operation.
A medical marijuana dispensary, once permitted by the City, shall meet the following conditions for the
duration of its operation:

(A) The use shall be conducted in strict compliance with the provisions of the Compassionate Use Act
(Cal. Health and Safety Code § 11362.5 et seq.).

(B) Consumption of any medical marijuana or medical marijuana product (including smoking) or
ingestion is prohibited in, on, or adjacent to the permitted premises.

(C) All employees of the dispensary must be 18 years of age or older.

(D) No persons under the age of 18 shall be permitted in the dispensary at any time. The building
entrance shall be clearly and legibly posted with a notice indicating that persons under the age of 18
are precluded from entering the premises.

(E) Onsite cultivation of mature medical marijuana is not permitted at any dispensary location, with
the exception of small immature cuttings, starts, or clones.

(F) No retail sales of any products other than medical marijuana or medical marijuana related
products are permitted at the dispensary.

(G) The property owner and/or operator shall be required to report any illegal activity occurring on
the site, or associated with the dispensary, to the Mt. Shasta Police Department.

(H) Sale of food products containing medical marijuana is prohibited unless the dispensary is in
compliance with applicable Siskiyou County health regulations.

(I) The medical marijuana dispensary shall be open for business only between the hours of 9:00 a.m.
and 8:00 p.m. Sunday through Saturday.

(J) All medical marijuana transactions shall occur at the dispensary, and medical marijuana products
shall be dispensed directly to the patient or designated caregiver. No owner, operator, employee, or
volunteer may provide any product to any patient or designated caregiver at any location other than
inside the dispensary building. No delivery services shall be permitted within the City limits.

(K) The permittee shall assume all legal responsibility and liability associated with the operation of the
dispensary.

(L) A representative of the City has the right to enter the premises to audit the medical marijuana
dispensary financial records, after notice to the owner or operator of not less than five business days.
Financial records include, but are not limited to, income statements and balance sheets. Other
information to be provided on request may include but not be limited to total pounds grown, total
pounds purchased (identification card number or membership number as defined below), total
pounds sold, and existing inventory.

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 23

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=hsc&group=11001-12000&file=11357-11362.9


(M) Patient Records. A dispensary shall maintain records of all patients and primary caregivers using
only the identification card number issued by the County, or its agent, pursuant to Cal. Health and
Safety Code § 11362.71 et seq., as a protection of the confidentiality of the cardholders. All patient
and doctor confidentiality shall be upheld and preserved.

(N) All signage shall be in accordance with the City of Mt. Shasta sign ordinance.

(O) A dispensary shall maintain a general City of Mt. Shasta business license as a prerequisite to
obtaining a permit pursuant to the terms hereof.

(P) Each dispensary shall display a sign at its entrance, in a legible and visible manner, conveying the
following information:

(1) Days and hours of operation.

(2) Emergency contact information.

(3) Notice that persons under the age of 18 are not allowed in the dispensary.

(4) Notice that all illegal activity shall be reported to law enforcement authorities.

(Q) Each dispensary shall post on site a notice that smoking or other methods of consumption of
medical marijuana is prohibited in, on, or in the vicinity of the dispensary.

(R) Each medical marijuana dispensary shall display at all times during business hours the permit
issued pursuant to the provisions of this chapter in a conspicuous place so that it may be readily
seen by all persons entering the business. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.080 Fees.
The City Council may, by resolution, impose such reasonable fees on both the application for, and the
issuance of, a permit to operate a medical marijuana dispensary. The amount of the fee shall be
commensurate with the City’s cost to administer and implement the provisions of this chapter. (Ord.
CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.090 Violations.
Violations of the terms and conditions of the dispensary permit, of this code, or of applicable local and
State laws and regulations shall be grounds for suspension or revocation of the permit by the City
Manager, and subject to the appeal rights set forth in MSMC 18.96.100. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.100 Suspension and revocation – Appeal.
Any permittee aggrieved by the decision of the City Manager to suspend or revoke a permit may,
within 10 calendar days of the issuance of the decision, appeal to the City Council by filing a written
notice with the City Clerk. During the pendency of the appeal to the Council, the permit shall remain
in effect. If an appeal is not filed within the 10day period, the decision of the City shall be final. If an
appeal is filed in a timely manner, the Council shall, within 45 days of the filing of the appeal, hold an
appeal hearing. The Council may uphold the suspension or revocation of the permit if it finds that the
permittee is in violation of the terms and conditions of the permit or other applicable law or regulation.
The Council’s decision shall be final. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.110 Existing dispensaries.
Dispensaries licensed to do business in the City of Mt. Shasta prior to the enactment of the ordinance
codified in this chapter shall have 180 days from its final adoption to apply for and receive a medical
marijuana dispensary permit pursuant to this chapter in order to remain in operation. (Ord. CCO10
04, 2010)

18.96.120 Severability.
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this chapter is for any reason held to be
invalid or unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this
chapter; and the City Council of the City of Mt. Shasta hereby declares that it would have passed this
chapter and each section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase thereof irrespective of the fact that

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 24

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=hsc&group=11001-12000&file=11362.7-11362.83


any one or more of the sections, subsections, sentences, clauses or phrases be declared invalid or
unconstitutional. Provided further, that if any provision of this chapter or its application to any person
or circumstance is held invalid, said chapter or the application of said provisions to other persons or
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

The Mt. Shasta Municipal Code is current through Ordinance
CCO1601, passed February 22, 2016.
Disclaimer: The City Clerk's Office has the official version of the Mt.
Shasta Municipal Code. Users should contact the City Clerk's Office for
ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited above.

City Website: www.mtshastaca.gov
(http://www.mtshastaca.gov/) 
City Telephone: (530) 9267510

Code Publishing Company
(http://www.codepublishing.com/) 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 25

http://www.mtshastaca.gov/
http://www.codepublishing.com/


City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 26



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 27



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 28



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 29



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 30



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 31



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 32



PINE ST ALM
A ST

WA
SH

IN
GT

ON
 D

RCEDAR ST

MI
LL

 ST

CHESTNUT ST

IDA ST

SO
UT

H 
MT

 SH
AS

TA
 BL

RE
AM

 AV
E

WEST LAKE ST

EAST LA
KE ST

NORTH MT SHASTA BLVD

SO
UT

H 
B S

T

OREM ST

OAK ST

ROCKFELLOW DR

HATCHERY LN

EAST IVY ST

ALDER ST

MCCLOUD AVE

HIGH ST

SO
UT

H 
A S

T

OLD MCCLOUD RD

SMITH ST

SHELDON AVE

LASSEN LN

MAPLE ST

EUGENE AVE

NO
RT

H 
C 

ST

FOREST ST

WEST JE
SSIE ST

WATER ST

SISSON ST

GL
EN

 M
AR

 D
R

GAUDENZIO ST

HINCKLEY ST

MORGAN WY

ACKLEY AVE

EAST JE
SSIE ST

WEST FIELD ST

SPRUCE ST

ALPINE ST

ROELOFS CT

WEST CASTLE ST

SO
UT

H 
A S

T

FIL
E: 

\\fi
ler

aq
\Xs

erv
eR

AID
\C

om
pa

ny
Fil

es
\02

-Fo
rm

s\M
ap

 Te
mp

lat
es

\8.
5 x

 11
 G

en
eri

c_
P.m

xd

Medical Marijuana Dispensary Applicant (2016.29)

Feature and boundary locations depicted are approximate only.  

0 0.250.125
Miles

Legend
Sensitive Areas
Applicant Site
Downtown Enhancement District
Applicant Buffer
Eligible Parcels

I

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 33



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 34



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 35



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 36



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 37



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 38



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 39



Planning Department Staff Report 
October 10, 2016 

Project Number:  2016.07 

Project Title:   Cannabis Dispensary Ordinance Amendments  

Type of Project: Ordinance Amendment 

Prepared by:  Juliana Lucchesi, City Planner 

Planning Commission and Planning Department Staff respectfully request the City 
Council approve the recommendations in Attachment 1 to amend Chapter 18.96 of 
the Mt. Shasta Municipal Code. 

Planning Department also respectfully submits additional amendments to Chapter 
18.96 requiring the submission of a permit renewal fee and amending buffer length 
to 600 feet as per California requirements. 

Background: 

The City of Mt. Shasta in 2005 created Chapter 18.96 to introduce and regulate medical 

marijuana dispensaries (Attachment 3). The ordinance was created in response to 

California Proposition 215 Compassionate Care Act to meet the needs of local patients 

that are prescribed cannabis. The Medical Marijuana Dispensary ordinance was created 

to issue permits, regulate cannabis dispensaries, and limit the location and number of 

available permits. Additionally, there is minimal language in the ordinance that regulates 

cultivation and food production.  

Since the creation, the City Staff have had to create and adapt practices to accommodate 

situations which were not accounted for. The practices used have been prescribed to 

maintain the businesses without adding undue economic hardship. The practices consist 

of a re-submission of a building plan, security plan, and security review by the Mt. Shasta 

Police Department for changes in the physical footprint of the dispensary. 

Another development that has occurred since the original draft of the ordinance is a 

petition submitted to the City of Mt. Shasta by downtown business owners. The petition 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 40



requests that marijuana dispensaries are prohibited in the downtown area. The downtown 

area defined for this discussion is commercial zoning (C-1 and C-2) between Hinckley 

Street and McCloud Avenue. The major concern of the businesses is the odor and image 

of the downtown area (Attachment 2). 

The possible changes at the state level and the previously discussed changes in city 

policies and attitudes has created the need to review the current ordinance and 

recommend amendments to deal with future change. 

General Plan Connection: 

The Cannabis Dispensary ordinance changes do not result in any changes to current land 

use practices and zoning designations. Cannabis dispensaries will continue to be allowed 

in Downtown Commercial (C-1) and General Commercial (C-2) zoned parcels between 

Mountain View Drive and Hinckley Avenue (Attachment 2). 

The General Plan defines the purpose of Commercial Center zoning as “… for 

development with businesses that generally require customer traffic in order for the 

business to be successful.” (City of Mt. Shasta General Plan, pg. 3-7). Based on this 

definition, the current zoning for cannabis dispensaries is appropriate. 

Social Impacts: 

Cannabis and cannabis products provide benefits and concerns in terms of public health. 

Cannabis for medical purposes has become more widely used to assist patients with pain 

management, appetite, and other medical issues. Recreational cannabis, although not 

legal in the state of California at this time, has become a public health concern in terms 

of cannabis consumption by persons under 18 years of age. Best practices in cannabis 

regulation recommend prohibiting cannabis dispensaries and related businesses within a 

certain distance of areas where minors would be present. Maps have been created with 

the current allowable locations and various buffer distances to illustrate possible 

distances from minor sensitive land uses (Attachments 2). 

 

  

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 41



Environmental Review: 

The amendments to Chapter 18.96 are considered exempt from the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) process. The amendments do not change the current 

land use categories or alter their definitions and allowable uses. Dispensaries are 

considered similar uses to pharmacies, clinical space, and retail. Major changes to the 

ordinance are concerned with administrative process which has no direct or indirect 

impact on the environment.  

Projects are defined as an activity which may cause wither a direct physical change in the 

environment, or a reasonably foreseeable indirect physical change in the environment. It 

is determined that the amendments recommended do not result in a direct impact on the 

environment or increase indirect impacts. The amendments are not considered a project 

under the CEQA process; therefore, does not need to be assessed.  

Planning Commission at the September 20, 2016 regular meeting approved staff 

recommendation that the amendments to Chapter 18.96 do not meet the CEQA definition 

of a “project”.  

Staff Recommendations: 

Planning Commission and Planning Department Staff respectfully request the City 
Council approve the recommendations in Attachment 1 to amend Chapter 18.96 of 
the Mt. Shasta Municipal Code. 

Planning Department also respectfully submits additional amendments to Chapter 
18.96 requiring the submission of a permit renewal fee and amending buffer length 
to 600 feet as per California requirements. 

The Planning Commission and Planning Department recommends that the City Council 

approve the recommendation of amending Chapter 18.96 of the Mount Shasta Municipal 

Code as per Attachment 1. The changes to Chapter 18.96 have been made over the past 

three months and included to public hearings. The changes allow for Cannabis 

Dispensaries the ability to continue dispensing medical cannabis and cannabis products 

while facilitating changes to state cannabis legislation. The changes do not result in more 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 42



available permits, additional growing or product types, or the smoking of cannabis 

products onsite.  

The specific changes to the ordinance center on allowable locations, requirements of 

dispensaries, and shift in ordinance language and terms. The previous ordinance named 

specific schools that dispensaries could not be within 1000 feet of, which was change to 

the general term “school” to provide equal protection to schools that were not listed; 

charter schools, private schools, etc. The buffer was initially decreased and still listed at 

250 feet to allow more eligible parcels in the City Limits. The Planning Department in 

consultation with the City Attorney recommended the City Council amend the buffers to 

600 feet to meet the state requirements. The buffer requirements have changed since the 

introduction of the Medical Cannabis Regulation and Safety Act from a suggested 1000 

feet to a required 600 feet from schools (Attachment 2). 

The requirements for dispensaries to maintain were reduced due to the lack of County 

programming and to address issues that arose with the permitting process. A major 

change to the requirements is that youth under the age of 18 years old will be allowed to 

fill a medical cannabis prescription with a legal guardian present. Previously, any youth 

under the age of 18 years old was not allowed inside the dispensary, which made it 

difficult for patients to received proper care. It was found that the patient should be present 

inside the dispensary to receive any prescription instructions with the legal guardian to 

ensure proper dosage and use.  

The second change in requirements is the removal of onsite patient records and 

identification cards. Siskiyou County at the beginning of the medical cannabis trend was 

going to offer an identification card registration program. The program would allow 

dispensaries to keep identification records onsite for patients to ensure that the patient is 

the one receiving the prescription. The County was unable to create a program; therefore, 

the requirement is not attainable.  

The third change to dispensary requirements and permitting is an annual security check. 

Best practices in other jurisdictions rely on annual security checks to ensure dispensary 

compliance with security requirements. The dispensaries are required to submit security 

plans when applying for the permit to dispense cannabis, but there is no follow-up once 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 43



the permit is granted. The security checks would be administered by the Mt. Shasta Police 

Department.   

The final change to the dispensary ordinance permitting process is the addition of a 

building plan resubmission if the dispensary alters their space. The existing dispensaries 

have expanded their floor area to address changes in business. The addition of a building 

plan resubmission process allows the City to stay up-to-date on the security and 

dispensary floor plan.  

In addition to the above Planning commission approved amendments, the Planning 

Department staff requests that 18.96.080 “Fees” be amended to include an annual permit 

renewal fee. Amendments to the cannabis dispensary ordinance do not include changes 

in the fees associated with the permitting process. The current dispensary permit price is 

a one-time fee of $400.00. The price is determined by the number of staff hours spent on 

reviewing the permit application process; this does not include annual security check 

hours spent. Annual fees are typical of other city dispensary ordinances. 

Attachments: 

1. Planning Commission Recommended Amendments for Chapter 18.96 
2. Eligible Cannabis Dispensary Sites 
3. Current Chapter 18.96 “Medical Marijuana Dispensaries” 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 44



 
 
 

Sections: 

18.96.010 Purpose. 

18.96.020 Definitions. 

18.96.030 Location. 

Chapter 18.96 
CANNABIS DISPENSARIES 

18.96.040 Number of dispensaries. 

18.96.050 Cannabis dispensary administrative permit process. 

18.96.060 Findings for issuance of a Cannabis dispensary permit. 

18.96.070 Conditions of operation. 

18.96.080 Fees. 

18.96.090 Violations. 

18.96.100 Suspension and revocation – Appeal. 

18.96.110 Existing dispensaries. 

18.96.120 Annual Security Check 

18.96.130 Expansion of Dispensary Space 

18.96.140 Severability. 
 
 
18.96.010 Purpose. 
The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public safety, health, and welfare of the residents of 

Mt. Shasta by regulating the operation of Cannabis dispensaries within City limits, to restrict the 

location of Cannabis dispensaries to specific portions of commercial zones (C1 and C2), and to 

require dispensary operators to obtain an administrative permit prior to commencing operation. 

(Ord. CCO1004, 2010) 

 

18.96.020 Definitions. 
(A) Cannabis. The plant, or parts of plants, derived from the Cannabis family Cannabaceae. Can 

be referred to as Marijuana, Marijuana related product, Cannabis, or Cannabis related product. 

Does not include Hemp. 

(B)Cannabis Dispensary. A “cannabis dispensary” is a facility where cannabis can be made 

available. 

(C) Administrative Review Committee. The “Administrative Review Committee” is the committee 

that reviews dispensary permit applications submitted under this chapter, and consists of the 

Planning Department, Police Chief, and City Manager. (Ord. CCO1004,2010) 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 45



18.96.030 Location. 
(A) Cannabis dispensaries shall be permitted only in those portions of the C1 and C2 district 

located between Mountain View Drive and Hinckley Avenue. 

(B) No cannabis dispensary shall be located within 250 feet of any school or parcels zoned 

“Public (P)” as defined in MSMC 18.16.020. 

(1) Distance shall be measured from the property line of the parcel containing the dispensary to 

the property line of the school, using the most direct vehicle or pedestrian route, whichever is 

shorter. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010) 

 

18.96.040 Number of dispensaries. 
The number of cannabis dispensaries shall be limited to one (1) dispensary per 1,000 residents 

within the city limits, as listed by the most recent United States Census Count. If the population 

within City limits falls below the per capita threshold then the number of dispensaries will be held 

at the last noted number. If at that time a dispensary has their license revoked or discontinued, 

no new licenses shall be granted. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010) 

 

18.96.050 Cannabis dispensary administrative permit process. 
(A) Prior to initiating operations, any person or entity wishing to operate a cannabis dispensary 

shall apply for and receive from the Planning Department a cannabis dispensary permit. 

(B) The applicant for a cannabis dispensary permit shall submit to the Planning Department a 

permit application containing the information specified in subsection (C) of this section. Upon 

receipt of the application, the Planning Department shall review the application for completeness. 

Applications that are deemed incomplete by the Planning Department shall be returned to the 

applicant within 15 days of receipt. 

(C) An applicant for a dispensary permit shall provide the following information: 

(1) The full name, current residence address, address of proposed cannabis dispensary, and 

phone number of the applicant; 

(2) The address to which notice of action on the application is to be mailed; 

(3) Written proof that the applicant is over 18 years of age; 

(4)  A map or diagram, to scale, demonstrating that the location is not within 250 feet of the 

named locations in MSMC 18.96.030; 

(5) Authorization for the City, its agents and employees to seek verification of the information 

contained within the application; 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 46



(6) A statement in writing by the applicant that he or she certifies under penalty of perjury that 

all the information within the application is true, and that the applicant has read the California 

Attorney General’s Guidelines and all California state regulations pertaining to cannabis 

dispensaries and will comply with those guidelines and regulations; 

(7) Any information or evidence substantiating the required findings of fact for approval of the 

administrative permit; 

(8) Criminal Background. A background investigation verifying whether the person or persons 

having the management or supervision of the applicant’s business has been convicted of a 

crime(s), the nature of such offense(s), and the sentence(s) received therefor; 

(9)  Security Plans. A dispensary shall submit a plan demonstrating adequate security on the 

premises, as approved by the Chief of Police and reviewed by the Administrative 

Review Committee, including lighting and alarms, to ensure the safety of persons and to 

protect the premises from theft. Security plans submitted must include plans for a 

professionally monitored robbery and burglary alarm system and a plan for adequate 

maintenance of the installed system so as to ensure it is maintained and in working 

condition; 

(10) Each applicant shall conspicuously post notice or notices on the premises stating that 

there has been an application for a cannabis dispensary submitted to the City of Mt. Shasta 

at that particular site for at least four weeks prior to the Administrative Review Committee 

receiving the application, and that application files are available for review at City of Mt. 

Shasta, 305 North Mt. Shasta Boulevard, Mt. Shasta, California. 

(D) Once an application is deemed complete, the Planning Department shall distribute the 

application materials to the Administrative Review Committee for review and decision. 

Administrative Review Committee shall have 30 days to approve or deny the permit application. 

Application determinations shall be based on the findings of fact required by this chapter. 

Dispensary operators must also comply with the additional conditions of operations that are 

required by this chapter and will be contained in the permit. 

(E) Once the Administrative Review Committee has made its decision on the application, the 

Planning Department shall mail a written notice of decision to the applicant by certified U.S. mail, 

postage prepaid, return receipt requested. An applicant aggrieved by the Administrative Review 

Committee’s decision may appeal the decision to the City Council by filing a written notice with 

the City Clerk within 10 business days of receipt of the Planning Department’s notice of 

decision. If an appeal is not taken within that time period, the decision shall be final. 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 47



(F) If a request for an appeal to the City Council is received within the applicable time period, the 

appeal shall be scheduled by the City Clerk for a public hearing within 45 days of receipt of the 

request. Public notice of the hearing shall be given pursuant to Cal. Gov’t Code 

§ 65091. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010) 
 
 
18.96.060 Findings for issuance of a cannabis dispensary permit. 
A permit to operate a cannabis dispensary shall be granted only if the Administrative 

Review Committee makes all the following findings of fact: 

(A) The cannabis dispensary, as proposed and at the location specified in the application, will not 

create an adverse impact on surrounding uses; and 

(B) The cannabis dispensary, as proposed and at the location specified in the application, will be 

compatible with adjacent uses; and 

(C) The cannabis dispensary, as proposed and at the location specified in the application, will not 

result in the aggravation of crime problems in the area, nor will it make law enforcement unduly 

difficult. (Ord. CCO1004,2010) 

 

18.96.070 Conditions of operation. 
A Cannabis dispensary, once permitted by the City, shall meet the following conditions for the 

duration of its operation: 

(A) The use shall be conducted in strict compliance with the provisions of this ordinance and 

pertinent California state regulations related to cannabis 

(B) Consumption of any cannabis or cannabis product (including smoking) or ingestion is 

prohibited within and on the permitted premises. 

(C) All employees of the dispensary must be 18 years of age or older. 

(D) No persons under the age of 18 shall be permitted in the dispensary at any time, unless 

accompanied by a legal guardian and the persons under 18 hold a valid script under California 

medical cannabis regulations. The building entrance shall be clearly and legibly posted with a 

notice indicating that persons under the age of 18 are precluded from entering the premises. 

(E) Onsite cultivation of mature cannabis is not permitted at any dispensary location, with the 

exception of small immature cuttings, starts, or clones. 

(F) No retail sales of any products other than cannabis or cannabis related products are permitted 

at the dispensary. 

(G) The property owner and/or operator shall be required to report any illegal activity occurring on 

the site, or associated with the dispensary, to the Mt. Shasta Police Department. 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 48



(H) Sale of food products containing cannabis is prohibited unless the dispensary is in compliance 

with applicable Siskiyou County health regulations. 

(I) The cannabis dispensary shall be open for business only between the hours of 9:00 a.m. and 

8:00 p.m. Sunday through Saturday. 

(J) All Cannabis transactions shall occur at the dispensary. No delivery services shall be permitted 

within the City limits. 

(K) The permittee shall assume all legal responsibility and liability associated with the operation 

of the dispensary. 

(L) A representative of the City has the right to enter the premises to audit the cannabis dispensary 

financial records, after notice to the owner or operator of not less than five business days. 

Financial records include, but are not limited to, income statements and balance sheets. Other 

information to be provided on request may include but not be limited to total pounds grown, total 

pounds purchased, total pounds sold, and existing inventory. 

(M) All signage shall be in accordance with the City of Mt. Shasta sign ordinance. 

(N) A dispensary shall maintain a general City of Mt. Shasta business license as a prerequisite to 

obtaining a permit pursuant to the terms hereof. 

(O) Each dispensary shall display a sign at its entrance, in a legible and visible manner, conveying 

the following information: 

1) Days and hours of operation. 

2) Emergency contact information. 

3) Notice that persons under the age of 18 are not allowed in the dispensary without 

appropriate medical documentation and legal guardian. 

4) Notice that all illegal activity shall be reported to law enforcement authorities. 

(P) Each dispensary shall post on site a notice that smoking or other methods of consumption of 

cannabis is prohibited within or in the vicinity of the dispensary. 

(Q) Each cannabis dispensary shall display at all times during business hours the permit issued 

pursuant to the provisions of this chapter in a conspicuous place so that it may be readily seen 

by all persons entering the business. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010) 

 

18.96.080 Fees. 
The City Council may, by resolution, impose such reasonable fees on both the application for, 

and the issuance of, a permit to operate a cannabis dispensary. The amount of the fee shall be 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 49



commensurate with the City’s cost to administer and implement the provisions of this chapter. 

(Ord. CCO1004, 2010) 

 

18.96.090 Violations. 
Violations of the terms and conditions of the dispensary permit, of this code, or of applicable local 

and State laws and regulations shall be grounds for suspension or revocation of the permit by the 

City Manager, and subject to the appeal rights set forth in MSMC 18.96.100. 

(Ord. CCO1004, 2010) 
 
 
18.96.100 Suspension and revocation – Appeal. 
Any permittee aggrieved by the decision of the City Manager to suspend or revoke a permit may, 

within 10 calendar days of the issuance of the decision, appeal to the City Council by filing a 

written notice with the City Clerk. During the pendency of the appeal to the Council, the permit 

shall remain in effect. If an appeal is not filed within the 10 day period, the decision of the City 

shall be final. If an appeal is filed in a timely manner, the Council shall, within 45 days of the filing 

of the appeal, hold an appeal hearing. The Council may uphold the suspension or revocation of 

the permit if it finds that the permittee is in violation of the terms and conditions of the permit or 

other applicable law or regulation. The Council’s decision shall be final. (Ord.CCO1004, 2010) 

 

18.96.110 Existing dispensaries. 
Dispensaries licensed to do business in the City of Mt. Shasta prior to the enactment of the 

ordinance codified in this chapter shall have 365 days from its final adoption to update and receive 

a Cannabis dispensary permit pursuant to this chapter in order to remain in operation. Any location 

in violation of the locational restrictions listed in MSMC 18.96.030 shall be allowed to continue 

business at that location until the associated permit is revoked or discontinued. (Ord. CCO1004, 

2010) 

 

18.96.120 Annual Security Check 
Dispensaries licensed by the City of Mt. Shasta shall be subject to an annual security plan check 

by the Police Department. A record of the annual security check shall be filed with the Planning 

department to ensure security compliance. 

 
  

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 50



18.96.130 Expansion of Dispensary Space 
The City of Mt. Shasta understands that businesses may require additional space to meet the 

needs of their customers. If a dispensary were to expand space, the dispensary must submit an 

updated building layout plan, security plan, and schedule a security review with the City of Mt. 

Shasta Police Department. The dispensary must update their permit within thirty (30) days of the 

expansion of the dispensary space. 

 

18.96.140 Severability. 
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this chapter is for any reason held to be 

invalid or unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of 

this chapter; and the City Council of the City of Mt. Shasta hereby declares that it would have 

passed this chapter and each section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase thereof irrespective 

of the fact that any one or more of the sections, subsections, sentences, clauses or phrases be 

declared invalid or unconstitutional. Provided further, that if any provision of this chapter or its 

application to any person or circumstance is held invalid, said chapter or the application of said 

provisions to other persons or circumstances shall not be affected thereby. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010) 
 
 

 
The Mt. Shasta Municipal Code is current through Ordinance CCO1601, passed February 22, 2016. 

Disclaimer: The City Clerk's Office has the official version of the 

Mt. Shasta Municipal Code. Users should contact the City Clerk's 

Office for ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited 

above. 

City Website: www.mtshastaca.gov 

(http://www.mtshastaca.gov/) 

City Telephone: (530) 9267510 

Code Publishing Company 

(http://www.codepublishing.com/) 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 51

http://www.mtshastaca.gov/
http://www.mtshastaca.gov/)
http://www.mtshastaca.gov/)
http://www.codepublishing.com/)
http://www.codepublishing.com/)


D 
ST

PINE ST

ALM
A ST

CEDAR ST

MI
LL

 ST

CHESTNUT ST

IDA ST

SO
UT

H 
MT

 SH
AS

TA
 BL

RE
AM

 AV
E

WEST LAKE ST

EAST LA
KE ST

WA
SH

IN
GT

ON
 D

R

SO
UT

H 
B S

T

NORTH MT SHASTA BLVD

OREM ST

OAK ST

ROCKFELLOW DR

EAST IVY ST

ALDER ST

MCCLOUD AVE

HATCHERY LN

HIGH ST

SO
UT

H 
A S

T

OLD MCCLOUD RD

SMITH ST

SHELDON AVE

MAPLE ST

EUGENE AVE

NO
RT

H 
C 

ST

FOREST ST

WEST JE
SSIE ST

LASSEN LN

WATER ST

SISSON ST

GAUDENZIO ST

BIRCH ST

MORGAN WY

GL
EN

 M
AR

 D
R

ACKLEY AVE

EAST JE
SSIE ST

WEST FIELD ST

SPRUCE ST

ALPINE ST

ROELOFS CT

WEST CASTLE ST

SO
UT

H 
A S

T

FIL
E: 

N:
\co

mp
an

yfi
les

\01
-Jo

bs
 Ac

tiv
e\0

33
-02

 M
ou

nt 
Sh

as
ta 

GI
S\

3-P
roj

ec
t G

IS\
1 -

 M
ou

nt 
Sh

as
ta 

GI
S\A

- M
as

ter
 G

IS\
Mo

un
t S

ha
sta

 G
IS.

mx
d

Eligible Cannabis Permit Sites

Feature and boundary locations depicted are approximate only.  

Legend
Sensitive Areas
600ftBuffer
Downtown Enhancement District
Eligible Sites

I

0 0.1 0.2 0.30.05
Miles

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 52



Chapter 18.96
MEDICAL MARIJUANA DISPENSARIES

Sections:
18.96.010    Purpose.
18.96.020    Definitions.
18.96.030    Location.
18.96.040    Number of dispensaries.
18.96.050    Medical marijuana dispensary administrative permit process.
18.96.060    Findings for issuance of a medical marijuana dispensary permit.
18.96.070    Conditions of operation.
18.96.080    Fees.
18.96.090    Violations.
18.96.100    Suspension and revocation – Appeal.
18.96.110    Existing dispensaries.
18.96.120    Severability.

18.96.010 Purpose.
The purpose of this chapter is to protect the public safety, health and welfare of the residents of Mt.
Shasta by regulating the operation of medical marijuana dispensaries within City limits, to restrict the
location of medical marijuana dispensaries to specific portions of commercial zones (C1 and C2),
and to require dispensary operators to obtain an administrative permit prior to commencing
operation. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.020 Definitions.
(A) Medical Marijuana Dispensary. A “medical marijuana dispensary” is a facility where marijuana is
made available for medical purposes in accordance with Cal. Health and Safety Code § 11362.5 et
seq. (Compassionate Use Act).

(B) Administrative Review Committee. The “Administrative Review Committee” is the committee that
reviews dispensary permit applications submitted under this chapter, and consists of the Planning
Director, Police Chief, and City Manager. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.030 Location.
(A) Medical marijuana dispensaries shall be permitted only in those portions of the C1 and C2
district located between Mountain View Drive and Hinckley Avenue.

(B) No medical marijuana dispensary shall be located within 1,000 feet of Mt. Shasta Elementary
School, Sission Middle School, Mt. Shasta High School, or Jefferson High School.

(1) Distance shall be measured from the property line of the parcel containing the dispensary to
the property line of the school, using the most direct vehicle or pedestrian route, whichever is
shorter. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.040 Number of dispensaries.
No more than three medical marijuana dispensaries shall be permitted to operate within the City of
Mt. Shasta at any one time. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.050 Medical marijuana dispensary administrative permit process.
(A) Prior to initiating operations, any person or entity wishing to operate a medical marijuana
dispensary shall apply for and receive from the Planning Department a medical marijuana dispensary
permit.

(B) The applicant for a medical marijuana dispensary permit shall submit to the Planning Department
a permit application containing the information specified in subsection (C) of this section. Upon
receipt of the application, the Planning Director shall review the application for completeness.

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 53

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=hsc&group=11001-12000&file=11357-11362.9


Applications that are deemed incomplete by the Planning Department shall be returned to the
applicant within 15 days of receipt.

(C) An applicant for a dispensary permit shall provide the following information:

(1) The full name, current residence address, and phone number of the applicant;

(2) The address to which notice of action on the application is to be mailed;

(3) Written proof that the applicant is over 18 years of age;

(4) A map or diagram, to scale, demonstrating that the location is not within 1,000 feet of the
named locations in MSMC 18.96.030;

(5) Authorization for the City, its agents and employees to seek verification of the information
contained within the application;

(6) A statement in writing by the applicant that he or she certifies under penalty of perjury that all
the information within the application is true, and that the applicant has read the California
Attorney General’s Guidelines and will comply with those guidelines;

(7) Any information or evidence substantiating the required findings of fact for approval of the
administrative permit;

(8) Criminal Background. A background investigation verifying whether the person or persons
having the management or supervision of the applicant’s business has been convicted of a
crime(s), the nature of such offense(s), and the sentence(s) received therefor;

(9) Security Plans. A dispensary shall submit a plan demonstrating adequate security on the
premises, as approved by the Chief of Police and reviewed by the Administrative Review
Committee, including lighting and alarms, to ensure the safety of persons and to protect the
premises from theft. Security plans submitted must include plans for a professionally monitored
robbery and burglary alarm system and a plan for adequate maintenance of the installed system
so as to ensure it is maintained and in working condition;

(10) Each applicant shall conspicuously post notice or notices on the premises stating that there
has been an application for a medical marijuana dispensary submitted to the City of Mt. Shasta
at that particular site for at least four weeks prior to the Administrative Review Committee
receiving the application, and that application files are available for review at City of Mt. Shasta,
305 North Mt. Shasta Boulevard, Mt. Shasta, California.

(D) Once an application is deemed complete, the Planning Director shall distribute the application
materials to the Administrative Review Committee for review and decision. The Administrative Review
Committee shall have 30 days to approve or deny the permit application. Application determinations
shall be based on the findings of fact required by this chapter. Dispensary operators must also
comply with the additional conditions of operations that are required by this chapter and will be
contained in the permit.

(E) Once the Administrative Review Committee has made its decision on the application, the Planning
Director shall mail a written notice of decision to the applicant by certified U.S. mail, postage prepaid,
return receipt requested. An applicant aggrieved by the Administrative Review Committee’s decision
may appeal the decision to the City Council by filing a written notice with the City Clerk within 10
business days of receipt of the Planning Director’s notice of decision. If an appeal is not taken within
that time period, the decision shall be final.

(F) If a request for an appeal to the City Council is received within the applicable time period, the
appeal shall be scheduled by the City Clerk for a public hearing within 45 days of receipt of the
request. Public notice of the hearing shall be given pursuant to Cal. Gov’t Code § 65091. (Ord. CCO
1004, 2010)

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 54

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=gov&group=65001-66000&file=65090-65096


18.96.060 Findings for issuance of a medical marijuana dispensary permit.
A permit to operate a medical marijuana dispensary shall be granted only if the Administrative Review
Committee makes all the following findings of fact:

(A) The medical marijuana dispensary, as proposed and at the location specified in the application,
will not create an adverse impact on surrounding uses; and

(B) The medical marijuana dispensary, as proposed and at the location specified in the application,
will be compatible with adjacent uses; and

(C) The medical marijuana dispensary, as proposed and at the location specified in the application,
will not result in the aggravation of crime problems in the area, nor will it make law enforcement
unduly difficult. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.070 Conditions of operation.
A medical marijuana dispensary, once permitted by the City, shall meet the following conditions for the
duration of its operation:

(A) The use shall be conducted in strict compliance with the provisions of the Compassionate Use Act
(Cal. Health and Safety Code § 11362.5 et seq.).

(B) Consumption of any medical marijuana or medical marijuana product (including smoking) or
ingestion is prohibited in, on, or adjacent to the permitted premises.

(C) All employees of the dispensary must be 18 years of age or older.

(D) No persons under the age of 18 shall be permitted in the dispensary at any time. The building
entrance shall be clearly and legibly posted with a notice indicating that persons under the age of 18
are precluded from entering the premises.

(E) Onsite cultivation of mature medical marijuana is not permitted at any dispensary location, with
the exception of small immature cuttings, starts, or clones.

(F) No retail sales of any products other than medical marijuana or medical marijuana related
products are permitted at the dispensary.

(G) The property owner and/or operator shall be required to report any illegal activity occurring on
the site, or associated with the dispensary, to the Mt. Shasta Police Department.

(H) Sale of food products containing medical marijuana is prohibited unless the dispensary is in
compliance with applicable Siskiyou County health regulations.

(I) The medical marijuana dispensary shall be open for business only between the hours of 9:00 a.m.
and 8:00 p.m. Sunday through Saturday.

(J) All medical marijuana transactions shall occur at the dispensary, and medical marijuana products
shall be dispensed directly to the patient or designated caregiver. No owner, operator, employee, or
volunteer may provide any product to any patient or designated caregiver at any location other than
inside the dispensary building. No delivery services shall be permitted within the City limits.

(K) The permittee shall assume all legal responsibility and liability associated with the operation of the
dispensary.

(L) A representative of the City has the right to enter the premises to audit the medical marijuana
dispensary financial records, after notice to the owner or operator of not less than five business days.
Financial records include, but are not limited to, income statements and balance sheets. Other
information to be provided on request may include but not be limited to total pounds grown, total
pounds purchased (identification card number or membership number as defined below), total
pounds sold, and existing inventory.

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 55

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=hsc&group=11001-12000&file=11357-11362.9


(M) Patient Records. A dispensary shall maintain records of all patients and primary caregivers using
only the identification card number issued by the County, or its agent, pursuant to Cal. Health and
Safety Code § 11362.71 et seq., as a protection of the confidentiality of the cardholders. All patient
and doctor confidentiality shall be upheld and preserved.

(N) All signage shall be in accordance with the City of Mt. Shasta sign ordinance.

(O) A dispensary shall maintain a general City of Mt. Shasta business license as a prerequisite to
obtaining a permit pursuant to the terms hereof.

(P) Each dispensary shall display a sign at its entrance, in a legible and visible manner, conveying the
following information:

(1) Days and hours of operation.

(2) Emergency contact information.

(3) Notice that persons under the age of 18 are not allowed in the dispensary.

(4) Notice that all illegal activity shall be reported to law enforcement authorities.

(Q) Each dispensary shall post on site a notice that smoking or other methods of consumption of
medical marijuana is prohibited in, on, or in the vicinity of the dispensary.

(R) Each medical marijuana dispensary shall display at all times during business hours the permit
issued pursuant to the provisions of this chapter in a conspicuous place so that it may be readily
seen by all persons entering the business. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.080 Fees.
The City Council may, by resolution, impose such reasonable fees on both the application for, and the
issuance of, a permit to operate a medical marijuana dispensary. The amount of the fee shall be
commensurate with the City’s cost to administer and implement the provisions of this chapter. (Ord.
CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.090 Violations.
Violations of the terms and conditions of the dispensary permit, of this code, or of applicable local and
State laws and regulations shall be grounds for suspension or revocation of the permit by the City
Manager, and subject to the appeal rights set forth in MSMC 18.96.100. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.100 Suspension and revocation – Appeal.
Any permittee aggrieved by the decision of the City Manager to suspend or revoke a permit may,
within 10 calendar days of the issuance of the decision, appeal to the City Council by filing a written
notice with the City Clerk. During the pendency of the appeal to the Council, the permit shall remain
in effect. If an appeal is not filed within the 10day period, the decision of the City shall be final. If an
appeal is filed in a timely manner, the Council shall, within 45 days of the filing of the appeal, hold an
appeal hearing. The Council may uphold the suspension or revocation of the permit if it finds that the
permittee is in violation of the terms and conditions of the permit or other applicable law or regulation.
The Council’s decision shall be final. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

18.96.110 Existing dispensaries.
Dispensaries licensed to do business in the City of Mt. Shasta prior to the enactment of the ordinance
codified in this chapter shall have 180 days from its final adoption to apply for and receive a medical
marijuana dispensary permit pursuant to this chapter in order to remain in operation. (Ord. CCO10
04, 2010)

18.96.120 Severability.
If any section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase of this chapter is for any reason held to be
invalid or unconstitutional, such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this
chapter; and the City Council of the City of Mt. Shasta hereby declares that it would have passed this
chapter and each section, subsection, sentence, clause or phrase thereof irrespective of the fact that

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 56

http://www.leginfo.ca.gov/cgi-bin/displaycode?section=hsc&group=11001-12000&file=11362.7-11362.83


any one or more of the sections, subsections, sentences, clauses or phrases be declared invalid or
unconstitutional. Provided further, that if any provision of this chapter or its application to any person
or circumstance is held invalid, said chapter or the application of said provisions to other persons or
circumstances shall not be affected thereby. (Ord. CCO1004, 2010)

The Mt. Shasta Municipal Code is current through Ordinance
CCO1601, passed February 22, 2016.
Disclaimer: The City Clerk's Office has the official version of the Mt.
Shasta Municipal Code. Users should contact the City Clerk's Office for
ordinances passed subsequent to the ordinance cited above.

City Website: www.mtshastaca.gov
(http://www.mtshastaca.gov/) 
City Telephone: (530) 9267510

Code Publishing Company
(http://www.codepublishing.com/) 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 57

http://www.mtshastaca.gov/
http://www.codepublishing.com/


Planning Department Staff Report 
Monday, October 10, 2016 

Project Number: 2016.02 

Project Title:  Coho Property R-1-U Rezoning Application 

Applicant: Carol Coho 
403 Orem Street 
APN#: 057-382-020 

Type of Project: Property Rezoning 

Prepared by: Juliana Lucchesi, City Planner 

City Council Recommended Action 

The Planning Commission and the Planning Department recommend the City 

Council grant the rezoning of 403 Orem Street from an R-1 “Low Density 

Residential” to an R-1-U “Low Density Residential Urban”. The Planning Commission of 

the City of Mt. Shasta held one public hearing concerning the rezoning application. One resident 

submitted a written letter against the rezoning of the property. No public input was given during 

the public hearing hosted during the Planning Commission meeting on September 20, 2016.  

Project Description: 

The Applicant has contacted the Planning Department to file for a rezoning from their original 

zoning designation of R-1 “Low Density Residential” to R-1-U “Low Density Residential Urban”. 

The R-1-U is similar to the R-1 designation with the exception of lot widths. The R-1-U offers 

the property owner the ability to have a smaller lot than traditional R-1 lots.  

The Applicant lot is located along the corner of Orem Street and North C Street. The lot, shown 

in Attachment 1, is currently one lot with two existing structures. A single family home and a 

garage are on the east side of the property. The single family structure is located on the east 

property line adjacent to the alleyway. The alleyway is still in use by the City of Mt. Shasta.  

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 58



General Plan Connection: 

Land Use Element 

The Land Use Element of the General Plan states that the property exists in Low Density 

Residential area. The Low Density Designation indicates that the density of these neighborhoods 

should be no more than 8 units per acre or 24 persons per area. The change in zoning designation 

would be within the preferred low density residential parameters.  

Environmental Review: 

The rezoning of the parcel from R-1 to R-1-U is considered exempt from the California 

Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) process. The change in zoning designation is considered a 

Class 32: Infill Development exemption under section 15332 (Attachment 5). The proposed 

change in zoning could allow for the creation of one additional lot on the corner of Orem and 

North B Street. The addition of one low density residential urban lot would not result in a change 

in traffic, noise, air quality, or water quality. 

Staff Recommendations: 

The rezoning process for the R-1-U designation contains the following criteria with staff 

comments: 

1. The site is designated for low density residential and zoned R-1.

− The Applicant property is currently zoned R-1 

2. The proposed lot is surrounded by lots of similar size or smaller or set in a residential

street or block with similar sized or smaller lots.

− Attachment 2 indicates the neighborhood parcel sizes. The Applicant’s property is 

indicated in white and red. The surrounding parcels are a mixture of smaller and similar 

sized parcels.  

3. The project must gain access from a public street, alley, or approved private roadway. If

there is access to a developed alley, use of the alley for access is encouraged to achieve

compatibility.

− The parcel is a corner lot. If the Applicant were to separate the parcel into two, both 

parcels would have city street access or alleyway access. 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 59



4. Public services such as water, wastewater, and drainage facilities are available.

− City utilities are available in both North C Street and Orem Street. 

5. The site to be rezoned R-1-U will be developed in a manner which provides for

compatible development in terms of building orientations, and street designs, in relation

to the existing neighborhood.

− The change to R-1-U would allow the Applicant to create a new parcel. The existing 

and new parcel would be oriented similarly to the surrounding uses. 

Based on responses to the above findings, Planning Commission and City Planner recommend 

the City Council of the City of Mt. Shasta approve the attached resolution granting a rezoning 

amendment. The Planning Commission of the City of Mt. Shasta held one public hearing 

concerning the rezoning application. One resident submitted a written letter against the rezoning 

of the property. The project Applicant No public input was given during the public hearing hosted 

during the Planning Commission meeting on September 20, 2016.  

Attachments: 

1. Site Plan for 057-382-010

2. Project Area and Adjacent Zoning

3. Parcel Photographs

4. Notice of Exemption

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 60



Attachment 1: Site Plan for 057-382-010

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 61



057-382-010

OREM ST

NO
RT

H 
C 

ST

WA
SH

IN
GT

ON
 D

R

MCCLOUD AVE

RUSSELL AVE

FIL
E: 

\\fi
ler

aq
\Xs

erv
eR

AID
\C

om
pa

ny
Fil

es
\02

-Fo
rm

s\M
ap

 Te
mp

lat
es

\8.
5 x

 11
 G

en
eri

c_
P.m

xd

Project Area with Adjacent Zoning

Feature and boundary locations depicted are approximate only.  

Legend
Rezone Parcel
Parcels

Zoning
R-1

I

0 50 100 150
Feet

Attachment 2

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 62



Attachment 3

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 63



Notice of Exemption Appendix E 

Revised 2011

To:  Office of Planning and Research 
P.O. Box 3044, Room 113 
Sacramento, CA 95812-3044 

County Clerk 

County of:  __________________  
 ___________________________  

___________________________  

From: (Public Agency):  ____________________________ 

 _______________________________________________ 

 _______________________________________________ 

 (Address) 

Project Title:  ____________________________________________________________________________ 

Project Applicant:  ________________________________________________________________________ 

Project Location - Specific: 
 

Project Location - City:  ______________________  Project Location - County:   _____________________ 

Description of Nature, Purpose and Beneficiaries of Project: 

 
 
 

Name of Public Agency Approving Project: _____________________________________________________ 

Name of Person or Agency Carrying Out Project: ________________________________________________ 

Exempt Status:  (check one): 

� Ministerial (Sec. 21080(b)(1); 15268); 

� Declared Emergency (Sec. 21080(b)(3); 15269(a)); 

� Emergency Project (Sec. 21080(b)(4); 15269(b)(c)); 

� Categorical Exemption. State type and section number:  ____________________________________

� Statutory Exemptions. State code number:  ______________________________________________

Reasons why project is exempt: 
 
 

Lead Agency 
Contact Person:  ____________________________  Area Code/Telephone/Extension:  _______________ 

If filed by applicant: 
1. Attach certified document of exemption finding.
2. Has a Notice of Exemption been filed by the public agency approving the project?  � Yes    � No

Signature:  ____________________________  Date:   ______________  Title:   _______________________ 

� Signed by Lead Agency � Signed by Applicant 

Authority cited: Sections 21083 and 21110, Public Resources Code.   Date Received for filing at OPR: _______________ 
Reference: Sections 21108, 21152, and 21152.1, Public Resources Code. 

City of Mt. Shasta

305 N. Mt. Shasta Blvd

Mt. Shasta, CA 96067

Siskiyou
806 South Main St.
Yreka, CA 96067

Coho Propery R-1-U Rezoning

Carol Coho

Mt. Shasta Siskiyou County

City of Mt. Shasta

City of Mt. Shasta

Class 32: Infill Development (Sect. 15332)

Juliana Lucchesi 530/926-7510

City Planner

Print Form

The Applicant has filed a complete appilcation to change the zoning designation for her residential property 
at 403 Orem Street from R-1 "Low Density Residential" to R-1-U "Low Density Residential Urban". The R-1-U 
designation allows for single-family dwellings on smaller lots to encourage infill within the city limits. 

The R-1-U zoning designation was specifically created with the thought of urban infill in mind. The change in 
zoning designation would allow for the property owner to create an additional residential lot in the future. 
The possiblity of a new parcel would not result in increased traffic, noise, air quality, and water quality.

403 Orem Street, Mt. Shasta, CA 96067 (APN 057-382-020)

Attachment 4

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 64



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 65



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 66



City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 67



 
 

City Council Agenda Item # 11 
Staff Report 

 
 
Meeting Date:  October 10, 2016 

To:  Mayor and City Council  

From:  Parish D. Cross  

Subject:  Approval of Resolution Regarding Use Agreement Between City of Mt. 
Shasta and Mason’s Siskiyou Lodge #297 for Rental of Community 
Building for Council and Planning Commission Meetings. 

 
 
Recommendation: 

Staff recommends Council approve resolution regarding Use Agreement between the City of 
Mt. Shasta and Masons Siskiyou Lodge #297 for the rental of the Community Center for Council 
Meetings. 
 
Background & Summary: 

In July of this year the City of Mt. Shasta entered into negotiations with Siskiyou Lodge #297 
regarding the cost, terms, and conditions of a use agreement between the two parties  
providing for the rental of the Community Building used for Council and Planning Commission 
Meetings. 

At this time staff is recommending that Council approve the attached resolution and 
agreement with Siskiyou Lodge #297.  The agreement is for one year in length and cost per use 
has increased from $225 to $300.  The agreement also stipulates that the City will receive three 
uses during the year at no charge.  Currently, the City pays $7200 per year for the use of the 
Community Building.  The new recommended agreement would raise this cost to $9600, an 
increase of $2400 per year. 

It should be noted that staff continues to research alternate locations for future Council 
meetings.  The approval of this proposed resolution allows for some time to locate and secure 
an alternate location if appropriate to the City. 

Financial Impact: 

The City would see an incrase of $2400 for the use of the Community Building for Council 
Meeting. 

Attachments: 

Agreement 

Resolution 

X Regular  
 Consent 
 Closed 
 Presentation 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 68



RESOLUTION NO. CCR-16-46 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL 
OF THE CITY OF MT. SHASTA 

APPROVING AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN  
THE CITY OF MT. SHASTA AND THE MASON’S SISKIYOU LODGE  

#297 TEMPLE ASSOCIATION FOR THE PURPOSE OF CONDUCTING  
CITY COUNCIL AND PLANNING COMMISSION MEETINGS 

 
WHEREAS, the City is currently utilizing the Mason’s Siskiyou Lodge #297 located at 629 Alder Street; 
and 
 
WHEREAS, the Lodge provides ample space to hold public meetings and the City is able to broadcast 
said meetings from the current location; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City has been renting the Mt. Shasta Community Center for several years without an 
approved agreement; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City Council wants to continue with this arrangement through an agreement with 
Siskiyou Lodge #29 Temple Association for the term of one year; 
 
NOW THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the City Council of the City of Mt. Shasta that the 
attached agreement between the City of Mt. Shasta and the Siskiyou Lodge #297 Temple Association is 
hereby approved, and the City Manager is authorized to execute the Agreement on behalf of the City. 
 
The foregoing resolution was passed and adopted this 10th day of October, 2016 by the following vote: 
 
AYES: 
NOES: 
ABSENT: 
ABSTAIN: 
 
DATED:              October 10, 2016 
 
 
 
        CITY OF MT. SHASTA 
         
        ____________________________ 
        Jeffrey Collings, Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
________________________________ 
Kathryn M. Wilson, Deputy City Clerk 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 69



 
 
 

RENTAL AGREEMENT 
 

This Rental Agreement is made at Mt. Shasta, California, on the date last written below 
and between the CITY OF MT. SHASTA, a municipal corporation (“City”), and SISKIYOU 
LODGE #297 TEMPLE ASSOCIATION for the purposes of conducting Council Meeting, 
Planning Commission Meeting and Special Meetings, dated October 10, 2016 
 

1. Premises: The Siskiyou Lodge #297 Temple Association hereby rents 629 Alder 
St., known as the Mt. Shasta Community Building. (“Premises”). 
 

2.         Term: Option to Extend: Cancellation). The term of this rental agreement shall be 
for one (1) year commencing ______________.  The rental agreement may be extended under 
the same terms for an additional one year period by consent of the parties. 

 
3.          Compensation: City agrees to pay Siskiyou Lodge #297 Temple Association 

$300 per use.  The City will use the Community Building 35 times throughout the calendar year. 
These uses include Council Meetings and Planning Commission Meetings.  Furthermore, 
Siskiyou Lodge #297 agrees to not charge for three uses, reducing the total of uses to 32 times 
throughout the calendar year. 
 

4. Cancellation: Either party shall have the right of cancellation, upon written notice 
to the other party, given at least 30-days prior to the effective date of cancellation. 
 

5. Indemnification: Renter agrees during the term of this Rental, and any extensions 
hereof, to protect, defend, indemnify and save the City harmless from any and all liability 
whatsoever for mechanic’s liens, and for damages to persons or property, including death, 
resulting from this Rental Agreement or use of the Premises, or any activity or operation 
conducted thereon by Renter, its agents or employees. 
 

6.         Attorney’s  Fees:  The prevailing party in any subsequent legal action or 
proceeding arising out of this agreement will be awarded reasonable attorney fees and costs 
incurred in that action or proceeding. 

  
 

7. Notices:  Notices required by this Agreement shall be sent as follows: 
 
 To the City:   City Manager 

     City of Mt. Shasta 
305 North Mt. Shasta Boulevard 
Mt. Shasta, CA  96067 

 
 
  

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 70



To Renter:   Siskiyou Lodge #297 Temple Association 
    629 Alder St. 
    Mt. Shasta, Ca. 96067 
 

8. Complete Agreement: This agreement constitutes the entire understanding 
between the parties and supersedes all other previous understandings, written or oral. 

 
9. California Law:  This rental shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with 

California law which is in existence at the commencement of the rental and during any 
extensions of the rental. 

 
10. Provisions Are Covenants and Conditions:  All provisions, whether covenants or 

conditions, on the part of Lessee shall be deemed to be both covenants and conditions. 
     

 11. Captions:  The captions of this rental shall have no effect on its interpretation. 
 
 12. Severability:  The unenforceability, invalidity, or illegality of any provision herein 
shall not render the other provisions unenforceable, invalid, or illegal. 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 71



Lease Agreement  
Page 3 
 
 
In consideration of the foregoing the parties acknowledge agreement to the terms and conditions 
set forth herein: 
 
 
SISKIYOU LODGE #297 
TEMPLE ASSOCIATION: 
 By: 
 
 
Dated: ________________________________ ______________________ 
 Principal 
 
 
CITY OF MT. SHASTA 
 By: 
 
 
Dated: ________________________________  ______________________ 
 Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________ 
John Kennedy Sr., City Clerk 
 
 
APPROVED: 
 
 
________________________ 
John S. Kenny, City Attorney 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 72



 
 

City Council Agenda Item # 12 
Staff Report 

 
 
Meeting Date:  October 10, 2016 

To:  Mayor and City Council  

From:  Parish D. Cross  

Subject:  Temporary Adjustment to Authorized Positions at Police Department 
 
 
Recommendation: 

Staff is kindly requesting that Council approve the recommendation to temporarily adjust the 
authorized positions within the police department. 
 
Background & Summary: 

One of the officers of the police department has announced that he will be retiring in January 
of 2017.  As a result of this announcement, the Police Department tested for new full-time 
officers during the past several weeks and have successfully chosen a replacement for the 
retiring officer.  

Currently, the police department is authorized to maintain eight full-time positions on the 
patrol side of the department.  Staff is seeking permission to adjust the mentioned position 
authorization to nine for a couple of primary reasons.  The first reason is with training issues.  
With a temporary adjustment to the authorized positions, the department will be able to train 
the new hire through the Field Training Program (FTO) prior to the departure of the retiring 
officer in January.  This allows for a transition that will NOT impact the schedule of the police 
department and will afford officers enhanced safety and the continued ability to take time off 
and receive training.  Without the temporary adjustment to the authorized positions, the 
police department will be put in a situation that will cause the schedule to be down one officer 
due to the new hire working towards completion of the Field Training Program required by 
POST (Police Officer Standards and Training), which is 10 weeks in duration.  The FTO Program 
description is simply that the new hire has to work with another full-time officer for the entire 
10 weeks and cannot work independently until that time, hence the scheduling difficulties and 
safety issues that are created. 

Furthermore, the police department is expecting two officers to have medical procedures done 
in the next several weeks, once again straining the schedule.  The approval of the temporary 
adjustment will help in covering for these absences and will also maintain officer safety during 
shifts. 

 

X Regular  
 Consent 
 Closed 
 Presentation 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 73



2 

Financial Impact: 

The police department expects to see an estimated $6450 additional expenditure in salaries.  

Attachments: 

None 

City Council Regular Meeting October 10, 2016 74


	10.10.2016 Agenda
	9.29.2016 DRAFT Minutes
	PC Minutes 8-16-2016
	Staff Report warrants
	supporting documents expenditures 101016
	2016.29 SR Dispensary Appeal
	Dispensary Appeal Staff Report
	Attach1
	Attach2
	Attach3
	Attach4

	Dispensary Appeal
	Jon Thomas Support Letter
	John Santi Letter
	2016.07CannabisDispensaryCCPacket
	CannabisDisSRCC
	Attach1
	18.96.010 Purpose.
	18.96.020 Definitions.
	18.96.030 Location.
	18.96.040 Number of dispensaries.
	18.96.050 Cannabis dispensary administrative permit process.
	18.96.060 Findings for issuance of a cannabis dispensary permit.
	18.96.070 Conditions of operation.
	18.96.080 Fees.
	18.96.090 Violations.
	18.96.100 Suspension and revocation – Appeal.
	18.96.110 Existing dispensaries.
	18.96.120 Annual Security Check
	18.96.130 Expansion of Dispensary Space
	18.96.140 Severability.

	Attach2
	Attach3

	2016.02Rezone CC Packet
	Coho Rezone CC Staff Report
	Coho_Site
	Project Area with Adjacent Zoning
	Coho_Photos
	Coho NOE

	Rezoning Resident Letter
	Mason SR
	Resolution Mason Agreement
	Agreement Rental
	Police



